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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

CHRISTOPHER GERALD,

)


Employee,


)



Applicant,

) 
FINAL






)
DECISION AND ORDER

v.



)






)
AWCB Case No. 200702619

REDOUBT INDUSTRIES, INC.,
)


Employer,


)
AWCB Decision No. 08-0131





)

and



)
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska






)
on July 15, 2008
ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO.,
)


Insurer,


)



Defendants.

)


_____________________________
)

The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employer’s Petition for Review of the Reemployment Benefit Administrator’s (“RBA”) decision finding the employee eligible for reemployment benefits on May 6, 2008, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Burt Mason represented the employee (“employee”).   Attorney Michelle Meshke represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing.  We reopened the record for deliberation on June 12, 2008 and closed the record again on June 12, 2008.


ISSUES
1.  Is the employee’s eligibility for reemployment barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel or res judicata based on the Board’s decision in Gerald v. Randy’s Glass, Inc.?

2.  Did the Board Designee abuse her discretion under AS 23.30.041(d) in making a determination that the employee is eligible for reemployment benefits?

3.  Under AS 23.30.145 is the employee entitled to attorney fees and legal costs?



SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
For the purposes of this decision, the recitation of facts is limited to those necessary to decide the limited issues before us. 

I.  FACTUAL AND MEDICAL HISTORY

The employee has had two prior work related injuries prior to the injury that is the subject of the present case.  In 1982 the employee was employed at VECO when he injured his neck, resulting in neck, shoulder and arm pain.
  He suffered a disc herniation at L4-5 in a work related injury in 1991, for which he underwent a laminectomy in 1993.
  In 1998, while working at Randy’s Glass, Inc., the employee suffered a neck injury, including a left-sided disc herniation at C5-6, resulting in mild spinal stenosis.

The employee was again injured on February 16, 2007, while working for the employer as a carpenter.
   He was putting a box of cove base on a shelf when he injured his neck.
  At the time of the injury, the employee felt pain from his neck into his low back, and he had severe pain for several days after that.
  He consulted Rod Hall, D.O., on February 29, 2007, complaining of neck pain, low back pain and left arm pain “as bad as it has ever been.”
  Dr. Hall prescribed pain medication and ice packs and ordered a cervical spine magnetic resonance imagining (“MRI”) study.

The cervical spine MRI was performed on February 22, 2007, and showed disc bulge at C4-5 and a 2.5 mm central disc protrusion creating a severe compromise of the central canal, narrowing the anterior-posterior dimension to 7 mm and compressing the spinal cord.
  When comparing the February 22, 2007 MRI with a prior cervical spine MRI performed on February 2, 1999, there was progression of Modic-type II degeneration within the C5 and C6 vertebral bodies and the significant disc described at C5/6 has progressed.

Dr. Hall saw the employee again for followup on March 6, 2007, when he added more pain medications and a muscle relaxant to the patient’s regimen, as well as referring him for massage therapy
 and the neurosurgeon Timothy Cohen, M.D.
  The employee began massage therapy on March 6, 2007.
  On March 9, 2007, Dr. Hall restricted the employee from working.
  The employee saw Dr. Hall again for followup on March 14, 2007 complaining of continued neck pain and insomnia.
   

The employee was evaluated by Dr. Cohen on March 20, 2007.
  Dr. Cohen assessed the employee as having a severe stenosis at C5-6 as a result of disc herniation, osteophytes and modic changes.
  He recommended surgery, a C5-6 anterior cervical discectomy and fusion with a bone graft, plate and screw instrumentation.
  

The employee saw Dr. Hall on March 22, 2007, for followup.
  He told Dr. Hall that Dr. Cohen told him he could do surgery on March 28, 2007, but the surgery might have to be postponed as the employer might want to do an employer medical evaluation (“EME”).
  The employee continued on pain medication and with message therapy.
  

At the employer’s request, the employee was evaluated by the orthopedic surgeon, Douglas Bald, M.D., for an EME on May 23, 2007.
  Dr. Bald diagnosed C5-6 herniation with left upper extremity radiculitis, preexisting from an injury on November 1998, and cervical strain with permanent aggravation of C5-6 disc herniation due to the work injury of February 16, 2007.
  Dr. Bald agreed with Dr. Cohen that the employee required surgery for this condition and the most significant cause of his need for surgical treatment was the February 16, 2007 work injury.
  

On May 25, 2007, the employee saw Dr. Hall for followup.  The employee complained of severe pain, which had been increasingly worse over the last two weeks.
  Dr. Hall continued to treat him with pain medication and massage therapy.
  

The EME physician Dr. Bald answered questions from the employer concerning the employee’s partial permanent impairment (“PPI”) rating in a June 7, 2007, letter.
  Dr. Bald opined if the 

employee had a successful outcome from the cervical fusion recommended by Dr. Cohen, he would have a total PPI of 25 percent of the whole person, 12 percent of which would be attributable to the February 16, 2007 work injury.
  In addition, Dr. Bald thought the employee would be able to return to his prior position as a carpenter if he had a successful outcome from the surgery.
  

The employee saw Dr. Cohen on June 26, 2007, for a consultation prior to the planned surgery.
 Dr. Cohen decided to delay the surgery for two weeks as the employee was taking aspirin and was at increased risk for bleeding.
  Dr. Cohen wrote a letter to the employer opining the delay in the treatment of the employee’s disc herniation with severe cervical stenosis lessened his chance for an optimal recovery and was unwarranted.
  The employee continued to followup with Dr. Hall and massage therapy while awaiting surgery.

On July 17, 2007, the employee underwent cervical fusion of C5-6 performed by Dr. Cohen.
  On his July 27, 2007 visit with Dr. Hall, the employee complained of back pain between his shoulders, which was expected after surgery, but also stated the numbness in his face and left side of his body was mostly gone.
  On the next followup visit with Dr. Hall on August 3, 2007, the employee complained of continued pain in his right shoulder, which interfered with his sleep.
  On exam, Dr. Hall noted he had pain in his right upper extremity with grip and bicep and tricep movement against resistance.
  On August 30, 2007, the employee saw Dr. Cohen, who opined he was improved overall, with some stiffness in his neck, and mild pain and some burning in his shoulder.
  Dr. Cohen prescribed physical therapy 2 to 3 times per week.
  A radiograph of the cervical spine performed on August 30, 2007, showed post surgical changes of an anterior cervical fusion at the C5-6 level.
  On September 4, 2007, the employee started a physical therapy regimen of 3 times per week for 4 weeks.
  At the initial evaluation, the employee complained of pain in the upper left arm and a sharp, stabbing pain in the upper right arm.
  

On September 12, 2007, Dr. Cohen opined the employee would have at least a 1% PPI as a result of the work injury and would not be able to perform his job at the time of injury.
  Dr. Hall also opined the employee would not be able to return to work as a carpenter, rigger, or laborer.

The employee saw Dr. Cohen on November 29, 2007, for a followup appointment.
  Dr. Cohen noted the employee did have pain with hyperextension and occasional arm pain,
 so he decided to continue his physical therapy and released him to light duty work, with lifting less than 10 pounds, no work at heights, and only four hour days.
  Dr. Cohen opined the employee needed a PPI and retraining, as he had had a fusion and ongoing intermittent neck pain.
  

The employee saw Dr. Hall on December 4, 2007, complaining of insomnia, but stating his pain had improved.
  The employee told Dr. Hall that Dr. Cohen had told him he needed 16 more weeks of physical therapy and it would take up to a year for him to heal.

At the employer’s request, on December 11, 2007, the employee was seen for another EME, this time by orthopedic surgeon John Swanson, M.D.
  Dr. Swanson opined the activity the employee was performing at the time of the February 16, 2007 work injury, that is, lifting a 10 to 15 pound cove base and placing it on a shelf two feet off the ground, could not have caused an injury to the cervical spine.
  Dr. Swanson attested the changes seen on the February 22, 2007 MRI were only the preexisting degenerative spondylosis of the cervical spine.
 Further, he opined the increase in symptoms experienced by the employee in February of 2007 returned to baseline within three months’ time, by May 16, 2007.
  Finally, he also opined the employee’s February 2007 work injury was not the substantial cause of the employee’s condition,
 that the employee did not need any specific treatment for any work related condition, that the employee was engaging in symptom magnification for secondary gain, and that he could return to carpentry work.
 

In January of 2008, after reviewing additional medical records from several of the employee’s health care providers, including Gary Gerley, M.D., Dr. Hall, Lynn Carlson, Kim Thiele, and Dr. Cohen, from March 2004 to August of 2007, Dr. Swanson contended the records showed a gradual increase in the quantity of narcotic pain medications.
  Dr. Swanson opined this showed a history of long term narcotic medication use with physical dependence and possible psychological addiction.
  

On January 21, 2008, the employee saw Dr. Hall for a followup appointment.
  The employee complained of neck and left shoulder pain, and Dr. Hall diagnosed him with chronic C-spine pain, insomnia, and hypertension.
  He told Dr. Hall he was going to visit his mother in Kentucky and Dr. Cohen had given him a prescription for physical therapy so that he could continue that while in Kentucky.

II.  PROCEDURAL AND REEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT ELIGIBILITY HISTORY
The employee filed a Report of Injury on March 6, 2007, stating he had injured his neck at work while he was replacing a ½ box of cove base on a rack on February 16, 2007.
  The employer initially filed a controversion of timeloss benefits based on lack of medical evidence.
  Subsequently the employer paid temporary total disability benefits (“TTD”),
 and medical benefits.

In the past, the employee was found ineligible for reemployment benefits for the work injury he suffered in 1998.  The rehabilitation specialist for the 1998 injury, Dennis Johnson, considered the employee to have completed a prior rehabilitation program in the early 1980’s in his claim against VECO.
  Mr. Johnson based this decision on the employee’s statements that he had worked with a vocational rehabilitation counselor to develop a plan to train on the job as a cabinetmaker, that he completed on-the-job training, and had worked a cabinetmaker for over a year in Kentucky.
  

Mr. Johnson also found the employee worked as a carpenter in the job at the time of his 1982 injury, although the job title was skilled labor helper.
  RBA Designee Andew specifically questioned Mr. Johnson concerning his choice of job titles, seeking clarification of why Mr. Johnson applied the Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles (“SCODDOT”) description for carpenter to the job at VECO, when she noted the employee was a skilled labor helper.
   Mr. Johnson wrote he interviewed the employee again, and the employee again reported his job title was “skilled labor helper,” but he was specifically working as a carpenter.
   There is no indication Mr. Johnson or RBA Designee Andrew considered combining the DOT’s for the jobs of skilled labor helper and carpenter.
  Mr. Johnson submitted three job descriptions, all requiring medium level physical capacity, to the employee’s doctor, Michael Koob, M.D., and the EME physician, Shawn Hadley, M.D.
  All three were disapproved by Dr. Koob and approved by Dr. Hadley, based on her August 26, 1999 EME and the physical capacity evaluation (“PCE”) of September 16, 1999.
  Mr. Johnson deferred to RBA Designee Andrew the decision of which physician’s opinion to rely upon.
  Mr. Johnson stated he based his recommendation that the employee not be found eligible for reemployment benefits on AS 23.30.041(f)(2), which stated: “An employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if the employee has previously been rehabilitated in a former worker’s compensation claim and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury.”
  Since Mr. Johnson considered both the employee’s job with VECO to be a carpenter job, which has a medium level physical demands, and also considered the employee’s job while he was working for Randy’s Glass, Inc., to be a job that of a carpenter with medium level physical demand, he felt the employee was prohibited by the provisions of AS 23.30.041(f)(2) from being eligible for reemployment benefits.
  Based on Mr. Johnson’s report, on January 28, 2000, Ms. Andrew found the employee was barred from reemployment benefits for his 1998 injury, under AS 23.30.041(f)(2).

In the instant case, the employee filed a request for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits on July 30, 2007.
  On July 31, 2007, he filed notification he had been off work due to his injury for 90 consecutive days.
  Subsequently, the Workers Compensation Technician (“WCT”) requested confirmation from the employer concerning the period of timeloss, and the employer confirmed the employee had been off work the requisite 90 days.
  The WCT then referred the employee to rehabilitation specialist Janice Shipman of Employment Solutions.
  Rehabilitation specialist Janice Shipman submitted her eligibility evaluation of the employee on October 19, 2007.
  She reported she contacted the employee, reviewed and explained the evaluation criteria under AS 23.30.041, obtained releases of information, and discussed the employee’s 10 year work history.
  Then she prepared three job descriptions based on the work history and sent them to both Dr. Hall and Dr. Cohen.
  Dr. Hall responded that the employee would have permanent physical capacities less than required for the jobs in his 10 year work history, thus restricting him to jobs with less than medium level physical demands, and probably he would be limited to sedentary jobs.
  Dr. Cohen predicted the employee would have at least a 1% PPI.
  The employee told Ms. Shipman he had received job training after his 1982 injury in the form of a non-paid work experience, but that he had never completed the training.
  He also told her his job with VECO in 1982 at the time of his injury had heavy to very heavy physical demands.
  Further, he explained that in all of his jobs since 1997, his employers have known of, and made accommodations for, his physical limitations such that the job titles of laborer in a petroleum refinery and rigger performed in after 1997 actually were medium duty jobs.
  Ms. Shipman consulted with the employer and found they did not have suitable work for the employee.
  

Based on the opinions of the physicians and her consultation with the employer, Ms. Shipman concluded the employee’s eligibility for reemployment benefits was not precluded by AS 23.30.41(e) or (f).  Concerning the requirement of AS 23.30.041(f)(3), Ms. Shipman opined it did not appear the employee had actually received retraining or was properly rehabilitated in a former workers’ compensation claim, and further, there were discrepancies on the actual physical demands of the job the employee performed while at VECO in 1982.
  Ms. Shipman based her opinion on the employee’s prior retraining on the case notes of the nurse case manager for the employee’s 1982 case, which showed the employee received less than 30 days retraining for a cabinetmaker apprentice job, which has a specific vocational preparation (“SVP”) at level 6, requiring 1-2 years training.
  The nurse case manager told the employee he had been retrained and no further rehabilitation services would be provided to him, after which he signed a Compromise and Release Agreement waiving all but medical benefits under that claim.
  Thus, Ms. Shipman concluded the employee appears to meet the criteria for eligibility under AS 23.30.041(e) and (f)(1) and (4), but given the complications of the claim due to his prior claims and the Randy Glass decision, she referred the case to the RBA for further investigation.
  

On November 9, 2007, RBA Designee White found the employee eligible for reemployment benefits, based on the October 19, 2007 eligibility evaluation completed by rehabilitation specialist Shipman and her own investigations.
  She found the Dictionary of Occupational Titles (“DOT”) job description used in the employee’s 1982 claim did not accurately reflect the physical duties he had performed in his job.
  She relied in part on the letters of the employee and his father, written after RBA Designee Andrew found the employee ineligible for benefits in 2000.
  The employee wrote he was employed as a skilled labor helper, a job with heavy physical demands, at the time of his injury.
  Mr. Harley Gerald, the employee’s father, wrote he was employed as a time keeper by VECO during the time the employee was working for VECO in 1982, and was thus fully aware of the employee’s job duties.
  He stated in his letter the employee’s duties “varied depending on job demand, and quite frequently changed from day to day” depending on which skilled laborer he was assigned to.
  Further, he stated in all cases, the employee’s “tasks required heavy physical demand and were, at times, of a dangerous nature.”
   RBA Designee White opined RBA Designee Andrew did not combine the job descriptions for both the carpentry and the skilled labor jobs because she did not have the benefit of the Board’s guidance regarding the requirements for combination of DOT job descriptions in Redmon v. Testing Institute of Alaska
 (“Redmon”).
  

RBA Designee White also confirmed Ms. Shipman’s opinion the employee had participated in, but not completed, a retraining plan after his 1982 injury.
  RBA Designee White relied on the April 17, 1984 letter from the employer for the on-the-job training that explained he was terminating the employee from the program after only two weeks of training, to determine the employee had in fact not completed a rehabilitation program.
  Although the employee settled his claim by Compromise and Release in 1984, RBA Designee White relied on the Board’s decision in Holzheimer v. Construction & Rigging,
 which found providing rehabilitation services or waiving the right to claim rehabilitation services in a settlement agreement does not constitute substantial evidence of being previously rehabilitated, to determine that settlement agreement was not a bar to the employee’s eligibility for reemployment benefits under his current claim.
  Finally, RBA Designee White reviewed the employee’s medical reports and work history to determine he was only capable of, and had only done medium level work since 1997.

Therefore, on November 9, 2007, RBA Designee White determined the employee to be eligible for reemployment benefits.
  The employer filed a petition requesting that the Board review the RBA’s November 9, 2007 eligibility determination.
   

III.  POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES

A. Employee’s Testimony and Arguments

The employee argued the issue facing the RBA was whether the employee had been retrained or settled a claim for re-training, then returned to a job that required the same or greater physical demands than the job he held in 1982.  He maintained since he has not returned to work in a job that has physical demands that were equal or greater than the job he had with VECO in 1982, he is entitled to an additional retraining program pursuant to AS 23.30.041(f)(3).  The employee contended the job he had with VECO was a skilled laborer with some carpentry skills, which is a job with heavy duty physical requirements, not a medium duty carpentry job, as found by RBA Designee Andrew in 2000. 

The employee testified his work with employer was as a carpenter and job supervisor.  He testified he also did some plumbing and electric work for him, and also worked on the owner’s house for a couple of years.  He further testified the physical demands of his job with the employer were that of a carpenter, or medium level, and he never was required to lift over 50 pounds.  

The employee testified he worked for VECO as a “roustabout” for about a year, then worked as a skilled labor helper.  In 1982 when working for VECO as a skilled labor helper, he testified he packed sheetrock, plywood, studs, 2 X12’s, all kinds of lumbar, trusses, metalwork, everything and anything.  He further testified he carried tools for plumbers, pipes, and basically did lots of heavy lifting, often over 75 pounds, all day long.   He testified he was laborer during 1982, and was learning the carpentry trade at that time.  After 1982, he testified he was hired by VECO as a carpenter, but that was after his retraining and after he had worked as a cabinet maker at Treat Custom Cabinets.  On cross examination, the employee was asked whether he remembered talking with rehabilitation specialist Johnson in January 2000 about clarification of his specific job at VECO in 1982.  He testified he did not remember the conversation, but if he had stated he was working as a carpenter, and the statement referred to the job he was doing in 1982 at the time of his injury, it was an improper statement on his part.  He testified he was hired as a skilled labor helper and every one of his pay stubs had skilled labor helper on them.  Further, he testified he worked with carpenters, plumbers, electricians, sheet rockers, welders, and wall paper people at the Vanguard camp. In addition, he testified his father would testify to the fact he worked as a skilled labor helper, as his father was working at the Vanguard camps at that time.   

When the employer asked about the employee’s statement that VECO had a generic skilled labor helper job title that applied to a number of trades, including welding, pipefitting, and carpenter, but the employee was working as a carpenter, the employee testified the job title referred to people who were helping those skilled laborers.  He testified he was working with carpenters, as a skilled labor helper, and routinely lifting and carrying well over the weight limit for a carpenter job.  

On cross examination, the employer asked why the employee signed a compromise and release agreement which stated he was a carpenter, the employee simply testified again he was working at VECO in 1982 as a skilled labor helper, not a carpenter.  

On closing, the employee argued res judicata does not apply to the instant case as the issues are not identical to the issues in Randy’s Glass.  He contended all the rehabilitation documents prior to the instant case only considered one job description.  Further, he argued that while decisions prior to Redmon did allow more than one SCODDOT to be applied to jobs for reemployment benefit eligibility purposes before, this did not become common practice until after the Board’s decision in Redmon was affirmed by the Alaska Superior Court in January of 2006 in Testing Institute of Alaska v. Redmon (“Testing Institute of Alaska”).
  Since Redmon, the employee argued, combining two or more SCODDOT’s to jobs when required is the “law of the land”, such that the issue in the instant case is not identical to the one in Randy’s Glass.  He maintained the issue in Randy’s Glass was, “[D]id the employee return to work in a job that exceeded the physical requirements of a carpenter?”  After the law of the Redmon decision, the employee maintained, the issue in the present case is “[D]id the employee return to work in a job that exceeded the physical requirements of a skilled labor helper?”  He argued Redmon decision changed the issues and the law to be applied to the issues, so that res judicata does not apply in the instant case.  

B. Employer’s Arguments

The employer argued the Board’s decision in Randy’s Glass bars the relitigation of the employee’s reemployment benefits under the doctrine of collateral estoppel or res judicata.  The employer maintained the prerequisites to the proper application of the doctrine of collateral estoppel are all met in this case, as follows:  1) the party against whom the doctrine is being asserted is the same, the employee; 2)  the issue, the employee’s eligibility for reemployment benefits, is identical to the prior issue, and the information relied upon by the RBA Designee in the prior case and the instant case is the same; and 3)  the issue was conclusively decided in the prior case, Randy’s Glass, when the Board upheld the RBA Designee’s decision finding the employee ineligible for benefits.

Further, the employer argued the RBA Designee in the present case abused her discretion in two significant ways.  First, the employer contended, the RBA Designee found the employee’s file showed the DOT job description in the 1982 claim did not accurately reflect the physical duties he performed.  In Randy’s Glass, the employer argued the Board found the employee’s statements that his job at VECO in 1982 was a heavy job not to be credible and, in addition, were inconsistent with statements made by the employee in the 1982 case and the 1998 claims.  The employer argues there is no evidence the RBA Designee considered these prior inconsistent statements.  The second abuse of discretion, according to the employer’s arguments, was the RBA Designee’s finding the employee had not been retrained under the 1982 workers’ compensation claim, which directly contradicted the findings of fact made by the Board in Randy’s Glass, and further, ignored the employee’s statements that he had completed the training and had worked as a cabinetmaker, the field in which he was retrained, for over 18 months.  The employer concluded the RBA Designee’s decision finding the employee eligible for retraining was not supported by substantial evidence.

On closing, the employer argued the employee’s statements to rehabilitation specialist Shipman, that he was working a heavy duty job in 1982, in and of themselves, are not substantial evidence to support a finding of eligibility for reemployment benefits.  The employer contended there was other evidence in the record, including the prior rehabilitation file and the Board’s prior decision in Randy’s Glass, that was not considered by RBA Designee White or rehabilitation specialist Shipman, and it was an abuse of discretion for the RBA Designee not to have considered the entire record.  The employer maintained the employee’s statements concerning the heavy duty nature of his job at VECO in 1982, made only after he was found not eligible for reemployment benefits, are not credible.  

C.  Attorney’s Fees and Costs

The employee’s attorney submitted a fee statement showing 33.1 hours of attorney time at $275.00 per hour and copying costs of $17.70.
  He also submitted a supplemental fee statement showing an additional 7 hours of attorney time at $275.00 per hour, for a total of $1,925.00.
  At hearing, he testified he had spent an additional 2.75 hours in preparation for the hearing, plus the hearing time, which was one hour and forty-three minutes, or 1.71 hours.  The employer made no objections to the request for attorney fees and costs.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.       RES JUDICATA AND COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL  
In Robertson v. American Mechanical, Inc.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that the legal principal of res judicata, or claim preclusion, applies to workers’ compensation cases, but that it is not applied as rigidly in administrative proceedings to preclude issues as it is in judicial proceedings.
  Res judicata can be applied to bar a subsequent proceeding: 1) between the same parties; 2) asserting the same claims; 3) when those claims were, or could have been, decided in the first proceeding.
  Collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, requires: 1) the plea of collateral estoppel must be asserted against a party or one in privity with a party to the first action;  2) the issue to be precluded from relitigation by operation of the doctrine must be identical to that decided in the first action;  3) the issue in the first action must have been resolved by a final judgment on the merits.
  

As noted by the Court above, res judicata and collateral estoppel are applied more flexibly to our proceedings than to a suit before the courts, because our proceedings involve a relatively complex administrative process giving rise to different benefit entitlements at different times during the course of a claim.  In addition, “unlike plaintiffs in actions at law, a workers’ compensation claimant is not restricted to filing a single, unified claim for all compensation and damages he or she is owed, now and in the future, as a result of the injury, nor need he or she put them to trial all at once, hazarding the future on one jury’s estimation of the evidence.  Over the lifetime of a workers’ compensation case, many claims may be filed as new disablements or medical treatments occur.”
  Therefore, “dismissal and preclusion of relitigation of a claim … is not so harsh in light of the availability of other future claims arising out of the same injury.”
  Our regulations at 8 AAC 45.050 and 8 AAC 45.065 recognize the protean nature of these claims, and attempt to identify, guide, control, and resolve the issues that arise in the course of claims. 

We find in the present case the first requirement of res judicata has not been met, as the parties are not the same.  Therefore, we find res judicata does not apply in the instant case. 

We do find that the first requirement of collateral estoppel is met as the plea of collateral estoppel is being asserted against the employee who was a party in the prior action, Randy’s Glass.  We also find the issue in the prior action was resolved by a final judgment on the merits, thus meeting the third requirement of collateral estoppel.  However, we find the second requirement that the issue be identical to that in the prior case is not met. In the instant case, the employer has stated the issue as follows:

Is the employee’s eligibility for reemployment barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel based on the Board’s decision in Gerald v. Randy’s Glass, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 00-0028 (November 13, 2000)?”  

We find the issue in Randy’s Glass was whether or not RBA Designee Andrew abused her discretion in finding the employee ineligible for reemployment benefits after his 1998 injury based on considering only one SCODDOT description of his job at VECO in 1982.  We find the Board’s standard of review in that case, as in the instant case, was “abuse of discretion” using a substantial evidence standard.  We find that, in applying a substantial evidence standard, a “[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order must be upheld.”
  We find the Board in Randy’s Glass found there was substantial evidence in that case record to support the RBA’s 2000 determination of ineligibility as the rehabilitation specialist Johnson reported the employee told him he worked at VECO as a carpenter, and the 1984 Compromise and Release Agreement signed by the employee specifically identified his job title as carpenter.  

Although the employer argues the Randy’s Glass Board found not credible the statements of the employee and his father describing the employee’s job at VECO at the time of injury to be that of a “skilled labor helper” and as heavy to very heavy in its physical demands, we find the Randy’s Glass Board made no such findings, and in fact did not even consider those statements in its decision.

In the instant case, we find the issue is whether RBA Designee White abused her discretion in finding the employee eligible for reemployment benefits, based on her finding the employee was working a heavy duty job in VECO in 1982, using a combination of SCODDOT job titles, and her finding the employee had not completed his prior rehabilitation program.  We find our review of RBA Designee White’s decision is also based on an abuse of discretion standard and limited to whether or not her decision was supported by substantial evidence.  Therefore, we find the issues in the two cases are not identical and collateral estoppel does not apply to bar the employee’s eligibility for reemployment.

II. EMPLOYER’S APPEAL OF THE BOARD’S DESIGNEE’S DETERMINATION

THAT EMPLOYEE IS ELIGIBLE FOR REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

A. Standard Of Review Of An RBA Determination

Under AS 23.30.041(d), we must uphold a decision of the RBA absent "an abuse of discretion."  Several definitions of the phase “abuse of discretion” appear in the laws of Alaska, although none occur in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act. The Alaska Supreme Court has stated abuse of discretion consists of "issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or which stems from an improper motive."
   The court has also stated that abuse of discretion exists only when the court is “left with the definite and firm conviction on the whole record that the trial judge has made a mistake.”
  We have adopted these standards in our review of the RBA’s decisions.
  We have also held that misapplication of the law or a failure to exercise sound, reasonable, and legal discretion to fall within the definition of “abuse of discretion.”
  

The Alaska Supreme Court has held that the presumption of compensability in AS 23.30.120(a) applies to claims for vocational rehabilitation.
  The court also held that we properly refused to reweigh evidence in reviewing an RBA determination.

In the Administrative Procedure Act the legislature has provided a definition to be used by the courts in considering appeals of administrative agency decisions.  It contains terms similar to those noted above, but also expressly includes reference to a substantial evidence standard:

Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence….  If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) substantial evidence in the light of the whole record.
  

On appeal to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission, our decisions reviewing Board Designee determinations are subject to reversal under the abuse of discretion standard,
 and appeals of Commission decisions to the Alaska Supreme Court are reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard of AS 44.62.570, incorporating the substantial evidence test.  Concern with meeting that standard on appeal leads us to apply a substantial evidence standard in our review of an RBA determination.  Applying a substantial evidence standard, a "[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld."
 

After allowing the parties to present their arguments and evidence, we review it and the evidence before the RBA, or the RBA Designee, to assess whether an RBA decision was supported by substantial evidence and therefore reasonable.
  If, in light of all the evidence, we find the RBA’s decision is not supported by substantial evidence, we may conclude that the RBA abused his or her discretion and remand the matter for reexamination of the evidence and necessary action.


B.  Eligibility for Reemployment Benefits

AS 23.30.041(d) provides in part:
Within 30 days after the referral by the administrator, the rehabilitation specialist shall perform the eligibility evaluation and issue a report of findings. . . .  Within 14 days after receipt of the report from the rehabilitation specialist, the administrator shall notify the parties of the employee's eligibility for reemployment preparation benefits.  Within 10 days after the decision, either party may seek review of the decision by requesting a hearing under AS 23.23.110. The hearing shall be held within 30 days after it is requested.  The board shall uphold the decision of the administrator except for abuse of discretion on the administrator's part.

AS 23.30.041(e) states

An employee shall be eligible for benefits under this section upon the employee's written request and by having a physician predict that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of the employee's job as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor's "Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles" for

(1) the employee's job at the time of injury; or

[image: image1]
(2) other jobs that exist in the labor market that the employee has held or received training for within 10 years before the injury or that the employee has held following the injury for a period long enough to obtain the skills to compete in the labor market, according to specific vocational preparation codes as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor's "Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles."

AS 23.30.041(f) states:

An employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if

…

(3)  the employee has been previously rehabilitated in a former worker’s compensation claim and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury….

8 AAC 45.525 provides in pertinent part:

(a)  If an employee is found eligible for an eligibility evaluation for 
reemployment benefits under 8 AAC 45.510 or 8 AAC 45.520, the 
rehabilitation specialist shall


  (1)  interview the employee and, if necessary, the employer at time of injury 
  

to obtain a description of the tasks and duties of the employee’s job at time 
     
  
of injury;


(2)  review the following volume, and from the volume, choose the most 
  
   appropriate job title or titles abused on the description of the employee’s 
   
   job; the volume to be reviewed under this paragraph is…

(B) on or after August 30, 1998, the effective date of the amendment of AS 23.30.041(e) by sec.1, ch. 59, SLA 1998, the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s “Selected 
Characteristics 

of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles” unless, under AS 23.30.041(q), the board has designated a later revision or version of that volume; and


 (3) submit the job title or titles chosen under (2) of this subsection to a 
   
   


physician.

(b) When interviewing the employee the rehabilitation specialist shall obtain descriptions of the tasks and duties for other jobs that the employee has held 
or for which the employee received training within 10 years before the 
injury, and any jobs held after the injury.  The rehabilitation specialist shall

(1) review the following volume and, from the volume, choose the most      appropriate job title or titles based on the employee’s descriptions of the jobs held and training received; the volume to be reviewed under this paragraph is…

 (B) on or after August 30, 1998, the effective date of the amendment of AS 23.30.041 (e) by sec. 1, ch. 59, SLA 1998, the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor's "Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles" unless, under AS 23.30.041 (q), the board has designated a later revision or version of that volume; 

(2) determine whether the employee held the jobs long enough to meet the specific vocational preparation codes as described in the volume; 

(3) submit the job title or titles chosen under (1) - (2) of this subsection, for which the employee meets the specific vocational preparation codes, to a physician….

(e) The rehabilitation specialist shall document whether or not a permanent impairment is identified or expected at the time of medical stability. This documentation may be either a physician's rating according to the appropriate edition of the American Medical Association's Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, use of which is directed by AS 23.30.190 or a physician's statement that an impairment rating is or is not expected. 

(f) In accordance with 8 AAC 45.500 and within 30 days after the rehabilitation specialist received notification under 8 AAC 45.510(c) (2)(A) of being selected, the rehabilitation specialist shall submit 

(1) a report of findings, including a recommendation regarding eligibility for reemployment benefits, together with 

(A) copies of the physician's predictions;…

(E) the physician's rating or statement regarding permanent impairment; or…

The issue before us is whether the RBA Designee had substantial evidence to support her findings and correctly applied AS 23.30.041(e) and AS 23.30.041(f) and 8 AAC 45.525 based on the evidence she found in the record.  If, as here, the question of law involves agency expertise, a “reasonable basis” standard of review is utilized.
  If the reviewing court finds that the agency’s interpretation is not reasonable, then the reviewing court’s “independent judgment” will be substituted and the statute will be interpreted “in accordance with the court’s view of the statute’s purpose.”
  The Alaska Supreme Court has discussed the legislature’s intent in amending AS 23.30.041 in 1988,
  as follows:


The overall goal of these changes [to the workers' compensation rehabilitation system] is to promote a prompter, more efficient, more cost-effective, successful, and less litigated rehabilitation system. . . . The Board itself recognized this purpose in Rydwell v. Anchorage School District, AWCB No. 9003980 (May 17, 1991).  In assessing the 1988 reenactment of AS 23.30.041, the Board found that some of the specific purposes of the reenactment were

1) to create a less expensive system with fewer employees participating in it; 2) to reduce the use of vocational rehabilitation as a litigation tool; 3) to encourage the use of vocational rehabilitation services for employees "most likely to benefit and who truly desire and need them;" [and] 4) to speed up the vocational rehabilitation process in the expectation of producing more successful outcomes.
  

We have also consistently held that we should generally “defer to the RBA’s expertise when construing regulations adopted by the Board’s to implement the reemployment 

benefits program which he administers.”

We find the employer has asserted two main arguments to support its claim that the RBA Designee abused her discretion in deciding the employee is eligible for reemployment benefits.  First, we find the employer argued the RBA Designee abused her discretion by relying on letters written by the employee and his father after the prior RBA Designee decision in 2000 finding the employee ineligible for reemployment benefits.
  We find the employer argued this was an abuse of discretion as the letters were self-serving and the Board in the prior case had found these statements concerning the nature of the employee’s job at VECO to be not credible.  However, as noted above, we find the Board in Randy’s Glass did not even consider these statements of the employee and his father, and certainly did not make any findings regarding them.  Furthermore, we found the employee to be credible.
  We found the employee to be well spoken and straight forward.  On cross examination concerning his statement to rehabilitation specialist Johnson concerning his job at VECO, we found the employee’s explanation reasonable.  We find the employee explained that first, he did not remember making such a statement, but if he did make such a statement, it was incorrect and perhaps a result of his pride and long term desire to be a carpenter.  We find the employee’s statement that he worked as a skilled labor helper consistent with the other information in the record, including the employee’s job description, and the statements in the letter written by his father, Hawley Gerald.  We did not find the employee’s signing of the 1984 Compromise and Release Agreement in Randy’s Glass, which included a description of his job as that of a carpenter in 1982, definitive on the issue of the nature of the employee’s job. We find although the Randy’s Glass Board relied on the employee’s statement to rehabilitation specialist Johnson that he worked at VECO as a carpenter, as well as the 1984 Compromise and Release Agreement’s description of the employee’s job to be a carpenter, to be substantial evidence that carpenter was the correct job description, that Board did not consider:  1) the employee’s official VECO job description of skilled labor helper; 2) a combination of SCODDOT’s for both carpenter and skilled labor helper for the VECO job; or 3) the statements of the employee and his father concerning the nature of the job.   

Further, we find RBA Designee White, pursuant to our decision in Redmon, and the Alaska Superior Court’s decision in Testing Institute of Alaska, considered a combination of the SCODDOT for both the skilled labor helper and carpenter jobs to arrive at her conclusion the employee’s job at VECO in 1982 was a heavy duty job.  We find she also considered that the employee’s official job title for his VECO job was skilled labor helper and the statements of the employee and his father concerning the nature of the employee’s job.  In summary, we find RBA Designee White’s finding that the employee was working as a skilled labor helper at the time of his injury at VECO in 1982 to be supported by substantial evidence.  

Second, we find the employer argued the RBA Designee abused her discretion in finding the employee had not been retrained in the 1982 workers’ compensation claim.  We find the employer maintained this finding was in direct contradiction to Randy’s Glass Board’s finding that the employee had been successfully rehabilitated in a prior workers’ compensation claim.  The Randy’s Glass Board did agree with RBA Designee Andrew’s finding concerning rehabilitation in that case, but actually only found the RBA did not abuse her discretion in so finding.  We find RBA Designee White relied on the evidence in the current record that in the prior rehabilitation program the employee received less than 30 days training for a job with an SVP at level 6, requiring one to two years training, to find the employee had not completed a prior rehabilitation program.  We find RBA Designee White relied on our decision in Holzheimer v. Construction & Rigging,
 in which we found “merely providing rehabilitation services or paying money under an approved agreed settlement for the waiver of the right to claim rehabilitation services” does not constitute substantial evidence of being previously rehabilitated, to find the employee had not completed a rehabilitation program in the past.  We find the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in finding the employee has not rehabilitated in the prior rehabilitation program.

In summary, we find RBA Designee White did not abuse her discretion in finding the employee eligible for reemployment benefits.  RBA Designee White’s decision was supported by substantial evidence and was not arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or motivated by an improper purpose.  Nor was it a misapplication of the law.  Therefore, we conclude that RBA Designee White’s decision finding the employee eligible for reemployment benefits must be upheld.

III. ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS

AS 23.30.145(b) provides:

If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of his claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for his costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

We find the employee seeks an award of attorney's fee and legal costs under AS 23.30.145. We further find the employer has not objected to the attorney’s fees and costs.  We have considered the employee’s arguments regarding his attorney’s fees and costs. We find the filing of the appeal of the RBA Designee’s decision served to put the employee’s benefits in jeopardy.  The employee, through counsel, was able to obtain benefits, and these benefits may well not have been obtained without counsel.  We find that the activities of the employee’s counsel have provided considerable benefit to the employee.  Consequently, the Board can award fees and costs under AS 23.30.145.
  

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney’s fees and costs to be reasonable.  The Alaska Supreme Court in Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell
 held that the Board’s attorney fee awards should be reasonable and fully compensatory, considering the contingency nature of representing injured workers, to insure adequate representation.  

In light of these legal principles, the Board has examined the record of this case.  We find Mr. Mason was able to obtain rehabilitation benefits for the employee. These results were of significant benefit to the employee who might have otherwise not been able to arrive at these results on his own. Therefore, we find these results to be significant benefits to the employee.

Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, as well as the benefits resulting from the services obtained, we find the attorney’s fees and legal costs are reasonable for the successful resolution of this case.
  We conclude the employee is entitled to these amounts for his attorney’s fees and legal costs under AS 23.30.145(b).  

We therefore conclude, under AS 23.30.145(b), that we must make an award to reimburse costs and reasonable attorney's fees.  We find the fees and costs contained in the affidavits filed with the Board, and the testimony of the employee’s attorney at hearing, showed a total of 44.56 hours of attorney time calculated at the rate of $275.00 per hour for total attorney fees of $12,254.00, and copying costs of $17.70, resulting in a total of $12,271.70 total fees and costs is reasonable.  We shall order the employer to pay the employee's attorney a reasonable fee and costs of $12,271.70.


ORDER
1. The employee’s claim for rehabilitation benefits are not barred by collateral estoppels or res judicata.

2. Under AS 23.30.41(d), we affirm the Board Designee’s decision that the employee is eligible for reemployment benefits. 

3. The employer shall pay the employee attorney’s fees and costs of $12,024.20.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on July 15, 2008.
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